University of New Orleans ScholarWorks@UNO

University of New Orleans Theses and Dissertations

Dissertations and Theses

5-15-2009

Enhanced Blue Crab Predation on Rangia Clams after Exposure to Hypoxia

Ann C. Howard University of New Orleans

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.uno.edu/td

Recommended Citation

Howard, Ann C., "Enhanced Blue Crab Predation on Rangia Clams after Exposure to Hypoxia" (2009). *University of New Orleans Theses and Dissertations*. 961. https://scholarworks.uno.edu/td/961

This Thesis is protected by copyright and/or related rights. It has been brought to you by ScholarWorks@UNO with permission from the rights-holder(s). You are free to use this Thesis in any way that is permitted by the copyright and related rights legislation that applies to your use. For other uses you need to obtain permission from the rights-holder(s) directly, unless additional rights are indicated by a Creative Commons license in the record and/or on the work itself.

This Thesis has been accepted for inclusion in University of New Orleans Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks@UNO. For more information, please contact scholarworks@uno.edu.

Enhanced Blue Crab Predation on Rangia Clams after Exposure to Hypoxia

A Thesis

Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of the University of New Orleans in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of

> Master of Science in Biological Sciences

> > By

Ann C. Howard

B.S. Tulane University, 2006

May 2009

Acknowledgments

This project was funded by a grant from the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration through the Pontchartrain Restoration Program. I would first like to thank my major professor, Dr. Michael A. Poirrier, for his guidance, insight and support from the initial stages of my research through completion. I would also like to thank my committee members, Dr. Phil DeVries and Dr. Thomas Soniat, for their support and comments. Dr. DeVries was particularly helpful in explaining the statistical part of the process to me, and Dr. Soniat provided important early revisions of my thesis. Beth Spalding and Ashley Walker of the Estuarine Research Lab proved invaluable in their knowledge of aquarium husbandry and eagerness to help me learn proper equipment usage. Beth Spalding designed the filtration system for the crab aquaria for this project. The completion of my degree would not have been possible without the teaching assistant position and financial support given to me by the Department of Biological Sciences at the University of New Orleans.

Table of Contents

List of Figures	iv
List of Tables	v
Abstract	vi
Introduction	1
Materials and Methods	10
Study Organisms, Study Area, and Collection Sites	10
Maintenance of Study Organisms	11
Experimental Design	13
Statistical Analysis	14
Results	15
Reference Experiment	15
Choice Experiment	15
Analysis of Variation in Crab Feeding	19
Observational Data	22
Discussion	24
Conclusion	30
Literature Cited	31
Vita	35

List of Figures

Figure 1: Distribution of rangia clams >21 mm in Lake Pontchartrain (1997)	4
Figure 2: Hypoxic zone fluctuations in Lake Pontchartrain north of the IHNC	8
Figure 3: Aquarium system used for blue crab maintenance during trials	12
Figure 4: Crab feeding preference based on clam treatment	17
Figure 5: Number of crabs that fed or didn't feed compared to days in captivity	20
Figure 6: Crab feeding compared to season of capture	21
Figure 7: Numbers of clams eaten compared to season of collection	21
Figure 8: Eaten rangia clam exhibiting chipping/biting	23

List of Tables

Table 1: Test trial using rangia clams kept under normoxic conditions to determin	e ability of
blue crabs to feed on normoxic clams	15
Table 2: Summary table of choice experiments	16
Table 3: Preference of crabs that ate both hypoxia-stressed clams and normoxic c	lams during
choice experiments	18
Table 4: Numbers of crabs that fed in each category based on number of trials	19
Table 5: Fisher's exact test to determine significance between temperatures	22

Abstract

Hypoxia or dissolved oxygen concentrations < 2 mg/L is a problem in estuaries worldwide. In Lake Pontchartrain, a 250 km² de-faunated zone exists as a result of salinity stratification and episodic hypoxia. Mature common rangia clams (*Rangia cuneata*) are not found within this zone. Blue crabs (*Callinectes sapidus*) are important estuarine predators and may move in and out of the hypoxic zone to feed on hypoxia-stressed rangia clams. To test the effects of hypoxia on predation, rangia clams were exposed experimentally to severe hypoxic conditions (< 0.75 mg/l) for 72-hours and then presented to blue crabs. One hypoxic and one normoxic clam were added to each aquarium containing a blue crab for each trial, and crab feeding choices were observed and recorded. I found prey choice varied among crabs, but in general, the experimental data demonstrates that crabs chose to feed on hypoxia-stressed clams over clams kept under normoxic conditions.

Keywords: Hypoxia, *Rangia cuneata, Callinectes sapidus*, Lake Pontchartrain, predation, blue crab

Introduction

Hypoxia (low dissolved oxygen concentrations <2 mg/L) occurs in estuaries, lakes, and coastal areas worldwide (Diaz & Rosenberg 1995). The effect of hypoxia on an ecosystem varies with the severity and duration of the hypoxic event. Differences in wind mixing, tidal circulation, water quality, gravity circulation, and density stratification can lead to spatial variation in severity, duration, and frequency of hypoxic conditions (Diaz et al. 1992). Hypoxia can cause mass mortality in fish and other marine organisms, as well as a decline in fisheries and benthic populations (Diaz & Rosenberg 1995). Even if hypoxia does not result in mortalities, relationships among organisms in the ecosystem are certainly altered as organisms try to adapt to low dissolved oxygen concentrations. Hypoxia can also alter community structure by decreasing species diversity and richness of fish and benthic populations. In general, large individuals and long-lived species are replaced by smaller and short-lived opportunistic species (Long & Seitz 2008).

Benthic organisms tolerate hypoxia with a variety of behavioral and physiological responses. Most immobile and sedentary organisms have a higher tolerance to hypoxia than mobile organisms, partly because they can reduce energy levels by changing their activity and metabolism (Stickle et al. 1989, Wu 2002). As dissolved oxygen concentrations decrease from 1.5 mg/L towards 0 mg/L, sedentary invertebrates, burrowing invertebrates and other benthic macrofauna display evidence of stress or die (Rabalais et al. 2001). Some infaunal bivalves migrate vertically, moving closer to the surface of the sediment and extending their siphons in an attempt to reach better-oxygenated waters (Seitz et al. 2003, Taylor & Eggleston 2000). Diaz et al. (1992) found that burrowing behavior of infaunal species changed even under mild hypoxic conditions. Several infaunal species were even observed laying on the sediment surface. Mobile

species move into shallower waters with higher dissolved oxygen concentrations (Pihl et al. 1991). Hypoxia disrupts normal behavior in most aquatic organisms and can remain altered for days after an event (Sagasti et al. 2001). Behavioral changes are usually not lethal, but can cause short-lived organisms to be less likely to reproduce. Behavioral changes caused by hypoxia may also increase the vulnerability of a prey species to predators (Taylor & Eggleston 2000, Pihl et al. 1992). During episodic hypoxia, predators may take advantage of weakened and exposed prey. During long periods of hypoxia, prey organisms may simply die, and therefore not provide a beneficial food source (Nestlerode & Diaz 1998).

There are two models that predict predation scenarios associated with hypoxia. Some prey organisms may experience a predation refuge during hypoxic events because predation rates may be decreased. This occurs in situations where prey organisms are more tolerant of hypoxia than their predators, and therefore experience less mortality (Sagasti et al. 2001). These models are called consumer stress models (Menge & Sutherland 1987). The other model is called prey stress model, in which prey species are more vulnerable than predators during hypoxic events, so predators can take advantage of weakened prey and predation is increased (Menge & Olson 1990). Periodic hypoxic events may stress the prey enough to make them more vulnerable but have no long-term effect on the predator (Sagasti et al. 2001). Mobile predators might move into hypoxic zones after the dissolved oxygen levels have increased in order to prey on organisms before they recover. Alternatively, chronic hypoxia may provide refuges for prey because predators may experience reduced feeding levels or increased mortality, leading to a reduction in predation. Most studies show reduced predation rates under hypoxic conditions due to reduced predator activity (Breitburg et al. 1994, Bell et al. 2003, Sagasti et al. 2001). However, some studies have suggested that periodic hypoxia is beneficial to predators and may result in

increased predation on benthic species. Taylor and Eggleston (2000) showed that the infaunal bivalve *Mya arenaria* moved closer to the surface and increased siphon extension, resulting in increased vulnerability to the blue crab. Stomach contents of predators in the York River revealed an increase in large and deep burrowing prey species after hypoxic events (Pihl 1992). Long and Seitz (2008) found that hypoxia increased the vulnerability of benthic prey to predators, thus increasing the availability of infaunal prey to predators and reducing the stability of the benthic community in the York River.

This study was designed to determine if predation by blue crabs associated with episodic low-oxygen events can help explain the lack of mature rangia clams in the hypoxic zone of Lake Pontchartrain. Lake Pontchartrain, located north of New Orleans, Louisiana, is an estuarine system of great economic importance. It has an average salinity of 4.0 parts per thousand, mean depth of 3.7 meters, and surface area of 1620 km² (Sikora & Kjerfve 1985). High salinity water from the Gulf of Mexico enters the lake through the Inner Harbor Navigation Canal (IHNC) via the Mississippi River Gulf Outlet (MRGO). The resulting stratification causes episodic summer hypoxia and gives rise to an approximately 250 km^2 zone where hypoxic events are frequent and produce a severe impact on benthic organisms (Poirrier 1978, Junot et al. 1983, Abadie & Poirrier 2001). Salinity stratification prevents mixing in the water column and causes bottomwater hypoxia (Poirrier 1978). Mature rangia clams (>20 mm) are absent from this zone, and although smaller Rangia clams are present, they die before they reach reproductive maturity (Abadie & Poirrier 2001) (Figure 1). The density of mature rangia clams increased lake wide after the cessation of shell dredging in 1990 except in this zone north of the IHNC, suggesting that an increase in salinity, as well as low dissolved oxygen concentrations affect the establishment of older and larger rangia clams (Abadie & Poirrier 2000). In addition, the area is

characterized by low species diversity and prevalence of annelids, indicating that the hypoxic events have altered community structure. The interaction between fluctuating salinity, low dissolved oxygen concentrations, and blue crab predation may contribute to the lack of mature clams in the hypoxic zone.



Figure 1: Distribution of rangia clam > 21 mm density (1997) in Lake Pontchartrain

Two recent events may have also impacted the establishment of mature rangia clams in Lake Pontchartrain. In 2005, Hurricane Katrina wiped out rangia clams from 50% of the lake bottom, likely due to abrupt changes in salinity and dissolved oxygen concentrations (Poirrier et al. 2008). Further, the area affected by hypoxia may have expanded to 815 km² after Katrina (Poirrier et al. 2008). Another problem was the opening of the Bonnet Carre Spillway in April 2008. The Bonnet Carre spillway is a man-made structure that connects the Mississippi River to Lake Pontchartrain that can be opened if the river reaches flood stage to protect the city from flooding. When the spillway was opened in 1997, species diversity, abundance, and number of taxa decreased and appeared to have a deleterious impact on the benthic community in Lake Pontchartrain (Brammer et al. 2007).

Rangia cuneata (Mollusca: Bivalvia: Matridae) is the dominant bivalve species in Lake Pontchartrain (Darnell 1961). They are found along the Gulf Coast in low salinity environments of usually less than 19 parts per thousand (La Salle & De La Cruz 1985). Rangia shells are thick, heavy, and globose (Linton et al. 2007). Unlike some soft-shelled clams, rangia can fully retract their siphons into their shells and close up tightly (Linton et al. 2007). Although they have a relatively large functional foot, they move very little once they mature. Rangia clams are important in the food web of Lake Pontchartrain; ducks, fish, and blue crabs frequently prey upon them (Darnell 1961, La Salle & De La Cruz 1985) and the clams provide important trophic links between phytoplankton and nekton. Rangia clams are also important filter feeders that cover most of the lake bottom. Filter feeders improve water quality, contribute to habitat diversity and stability of the ecosystem, and accelerate nutrient regeneration (Ostroumav 2005). Clams can improve water quality by reducing turbidity, phytoplankton, and the impact of fecal pollution (Spalding et al. 2007). Bivalves have also been shown to increase seagrass productivity by nutrient enrichment and reduction of epiphytic biomass (Peterson and Heck 1999).

Callinectes sapidus (Arthropoda: Crustacea: Portunidae) are important predators and scavengers in estuarine environments and can control diversity, structure, distribution, and abundance of local populations of benthic organisms (Micheli 1995). They are classified as "opportunistic benthic omnivores," eating a variety of prey including fish, bivalves, gastropods, crustaceans, plant material, and other blue crabs (Stickle et al. 1989, Laughlin 1982). Bivalves,

however, constitute one-third to one-half of their diet (Laughlin 1982). Blue crabs can exhibit behavioral plasticity in other prey choice parameters including size of clams (Micheli 1995) and energy profitability between prey species (Ebersole & Kennedy 1995, Micheli 1995). For example, Juanes (1992) determined that decapod predators chose small-sized bivalve prey because the possibility of claw damage. The size of a bivalve may serve as an indicator of higher profitability and lower risk to the crabs, resulting in an individual preying more heavily on a certain size of bivalve because of increased efficiency (Micheli 1995). In a study by Ebersole & Kennedy (1995), blue crabs chose bivalve prey species based on sediment depth, foraging time, prey availability and shell strength. Although blue crabs are classified as opportunistic feeders, individuals may concentrate on a particular abundant or profitable prey source (Seed & Hughes 1997).

Blue crabs employ different opening techniques on hard-shelled rangia clams versus softshelled clams. The shape of the shell makes the rangia clam difficult to handle and causes the chelipeds to slip off (Linton et al. 2007). Rangia clamshells can withstand blue crab claw crushing power in the 30-35 mm size class (Blundon & Kennedy 1982), and this results in alterative techniques, usually a combination of chipping/biting and wedging methods, used by the crabs to successfully open the rangia clam (Linton et al. 2007). Chipping/biting is a technique in which crabs break the shell edges with their mandibles to create an opening that allows the chelae to enter and pull the valves apart. Wedging occurs when crabs insert appendages in between the valves and push until the gap between the valves is widened, resulting in the adductor muscle being cut. Blue crabs can also pull apart rangia clams by using their chelae.

Predators may gain an advantage by staying in hypoxic zones rather than migrating to areas of higher dissolved oxygen concentrations (Taylor & Eggleston 2000, Seitz et al. 2003). Some predators even switch prey as dissolved oxygen concentrations decrease to take advantage of the less tolerant organisms during a hypoxic event (Sandberg 1994). Blue crabs are sensitive to hypoxia, but because of their mobility, they may be able to find the transitional zones between normoxic and hypoxic waters to prey on vulnerable clams that have been weakened by episodes of severe hypoxia (Das & Stickle 1993). Another possible explanation is that the blue crabs within the hypoxic zone become stressed and migrate out of the area, but unstressed crabs from outside the hypoxic zone move in and feed directly after the dissolved oxygen concentrations increase (Long & Seitz 2008). Pihl et al. (1992) suggested that predators reach maximum prey exploitation during or immediately after hypoxic events as a result of increased prey availability. Bivalve species can take hours to days to recover from a hypoxic event. Blue crabs can avoid low oxygen concentrations and therefore reduce or eliminate recovery time, which may allow them to move into an area directly after a hypoxic event and take advantage of vulnerable prey (Taylor & Eggleston 2000, Nestlerode & Diaz 1998). However, studies have shown that blue crabs are very sensitive to hypoxia, and that blue crabs reduce feeding during hypoxic conditions (Seitz et al. 2003) and do not increase predation during relaxation events between periodic hypoxia (Bell et al. 2003).

Blue crabs may be able to utilize the hypoxic zone and stressed rangia clams as a source of easy prey by traveling in and out of the zone to feed, thereby creating a feeding halo around the hypoxic zone. Although the salinity stratification north of the IHNC remains fairly constant, the hypoxic conditions in Lake Pontchartrain are episodic and patchy (Figure 2). The entire area is probably seldom affected at the same time. Areas within the 250 km² are differentially

affected due to differences in tides, wind direction and speed, and circulation within the lake. The 250 km^2 zone where mature rangia clams are not found is a result of these periodic fluctuations of hypoxia interacting with salinity shifts.



Figure 2: Hypoxic zone fluctuations north of the Inner Harbor Navigation Canal

Predation density and pressure may be especially elevated along the outside of the hypoxic zone during hypoxic events and most intense on the inside edge directly after the hypoxia has relaxed and predators re-invade (Lenihan et al. 2001, Clark et al. 1999b). If clams exposed to hypoxia are a profitable prey source for the blue crab, differential predation may help explain the lack of mature rangia clams. The purpose of this study was to determine if blue crabs

can recognize hypoxia-stressed clams, if they chose to feed on clams exposed to severe hypoxia (<0.75 mg/L) or clams kept under normoxic conditions, and how this interaction may help explain the relationship between the hypoxic zone and lack of mature rangia clams in Lake Pontchartrain.

Materials and Methods

Study Organisms, Study Area, and Collection Sites

This study was conducted from October 2007 through January 2009 using animals collected from Lake Pontchartrain, north of New Orleans, Louisiana, USA. Experiments were carried out in the Estuarine Research Laboratory at the University of New Orleans.

Rangia clams (30 to 35 mm) were collected by hand from sites in Lake Pontchartrain including Fontainebleau State Park in Mandeville, Louisiana and the southern shoreline in New Orleans East every two weeks to a month in an effort to use the freshest clams for each experiment. Rangia clams 30-35 mm were chosen because they are an abundant potential prey source, and clams larger than 20 mm are not found within the hypoxic zone in the lake. Prior research has shown crabs larger than 115 mm will eat rangia clams up to 46 mm (Linton et al. 2007, Ebersole & Kennedy 1995).

Blue crabs were collected in traps from Pirate's Bayou, in the Pirates Harbor Subdivision south of Slidell, Louisiana. Medium sized, (130 mm to 160 mm point to point carapace width) male crabs with both a cutter and crusher claw were used to avoid feeding preferences differences based on sex or physiological characteristics. Male crabs were used because they are common in oligohaline waters, where rangia clams occur, while females are relatively rare. Darnell (1958) demonstrated that crabs larger than 124 mm carapace width had mollusc dominated diets in Lake Pontchartrain. The number of days that the crabs were kept in captivity ranged from 15 days to 78 days.

Maintenance of Study Organisms

Crab Maintenance

Crabs were kept in five 10-gallon aquaria connected to a 50-gallon filtration tank layered

with rangia clamshells and filter floss (Figure 3). Each aquarium had a mesh crab-wire top with a vertical section from the top to the bottom of the aquarium to protect thermometers and other equipment from the crabs. A network of PVC pipes drilled with small holes was placed on the bottom of the filtration tank to keep water flowing throughout the entire tank and prevent organic material from accumulating in one area. Water was supplied to the aquaria using a submersible pump and was returned via gravity flow. Tap water was de-chlorinated with Aquarium Pharmaceuticals Tap Water Conditioner, which detoxifies heavy metals and removes chlorine and chlorinated compounds from the water. Instant Ocean commercial sea salt was used to maintain salinity in the system at 5 parts per thousand (ppt). One crab was added to each of the ten-gallon aquaria and allowed to acclimate for at least a week prior to the start of the experiment. This allowed for the conditioning of the system to provide appropriate nitrifying bacteria levels to be present to process toxic ammonia from the crab excretion to relatively nontoxic nitrate. Percent saturation of dissolved oxygen (% DO) was maintained between 90% and 100%. Ammonia levels were also monitored twice a week using a Hach DR/890 data logging colorimeter. In the first twelve experiments, water temperatures of all aquaria were kept at room temperature (22-25° C). In the thirteenth to twenty-first experiments, tank heaters were added to increase the temperature to 30°C to simulate summer water temperatures in Lake Pontchartrain.

Crabs received natural light through the laboratory windows, and a florescent light was installed approximately one meter above the five tanks to provide supplementary light. The florescent light remained on for seven hours per day to help prevent the development of bacterial infections. Longer light periods resulted in heavy growth of algae. Between experiments, crabs were fed Wardley's shrimp pellet formula by Hartz and opened live clams collected from Lake

Pontchartrain. Broken shells, uneaten organic material, and fecal matter were removed daily. The crabs were returned to Lake Pontchartrain after they were finished with laboratory trials.



Figure 3: Aquarium system used for blue crab maintenance during trials

Clam Maintenance

Clams were kept under normoxic conditions in 10-gallon aquaria or shallow grey plastic tubs. Instant-Ocean commercial sea salt was added to de-chlorinated tap water to produce a salinity of 5 ppt. The aquaria and tubs were aerated with an electric air pump with air stone. Salinity was maintained in the aquaria by adding more commercial sea salt if the salinity dropped or adding more de-chlorinated water if the salinity rose. Percent DO saturation was monitored using the YSI 85 and maintained between 90-100%. Ammonia was monitored once a week by using a colorimeter. The temperature of the clam tanks for the first twelve experiments was 22-25°C. Tank heaters were added at the thirteenths to twenty-first experiment to increase the water temperature to 30°C.

Experimental Design

Reference experiment: blue crab predation on rangia clams kept under normoxic conditions

To obtain base line values for blue crab predation on rangia clams under normoxic conditions, two normoxic clams from holding aquaria were placed in each crab tank. Two vertical lines were etched into one clam's shell, and two horizontal lines were etched into the second clam's shell. Crabs were given 12 hours to feed, and clams that were not eaten after 12 hours were removed. The reference experiment was run 8 times, resulting in 40 replications. Eighty rangia clams kept under normoxic conditions and 5 blue crabs were used.

Choice Experiments: blue crab predation on hypoxia-stressed rangia clams vs clams kept under normoxic conditions

A total of 21 experiments were conducted, with each experiment including five trials. A trial is defined as a tank containing a single crab that was given the choice between one hypoxia-stressed clam and one clam kept under normoxic conditions. I conducted 105 paired trials that used 105 hypoxia-stressed clams and 105 normoxic clams and the pairs were presented to 37 crabs. All clams were measured with calipers before experimental use to confirm that they measured between 30 and 35 mm.

For each experiment, five rangia clams were subjected to a 72-hour exposure period of severe hypoxia. Hypoxic conditions (DO < 0.75 mg/L) were created by bubbling nitrogen into a covered 10-gallon aquaria covered with plastic wrap to avoid evaporation and gas exchange. Dissolved oxygen levels were checked twice a day. Percent saturation, salinity, and temperature were monitored using an YSI 85 oxygen, conductivity, salinity, and temperature meter.

After 72 hours, one hypoxia-stressed clam and one normoxic clam were placed randomly

in each of the five 10-gallon aquaria containing one crab. Crabs were starved for 48 hours prior to each experiment to standardize hunger levels. Clams were differentiated by etching two horizontal lines on hypoxia-stressed clam's shell and two vertical lines on normoxic clam's shell. Markings were alternated between trials to eliminate potential bias due to scratch area and handling time differences. Each experimental trial was monitored regularly to observe which clams were eaten and note if the hypoxia-stressed or the normoxic clam was eaten first. Clams that were not eaten after 12 hours were removed.

Statistical analysis

To test for homogeneity of feeding response of each crab presented with hypoxic or normoxic clams, I employed a 1-tail binomial test with 0.5 probabilities (Moore & McCabe 1998). This test is appropriate because in each trial there were two possible outcomes in feeding response: a crab either chose a hypoxia-stressed clams or normoxic clams to eat first. A binomial test determines if the number or proportion of successes observed in a data set are significant based on a theoretical expected distribution of the two possible outcomes. A 2 x 2 chi square Fisher's exact test was also performed to determine if there was a difference between experiments carried out at 22-25° C and those carried out at 30° C.

Results

Reference experiment (test trial): blue crab predation on rangia clams kept under normoxic conditions

Two normoxic clams were introduced to each crab aquarium to obtain base line values

for the ability of crabs to feed on normoxic clams (Table 1). The experiment was run 8 times,

using a total of 80 normoxic clams. Three individuals fed, opening a total of three clams out of

eighty. Seventy-seven clams were left uneaten. Five crabs were used in the reference

experiment, and although 3 crabs ate initially, none of the crabs ate again.

Table 1: Test trial using only rangia clams kept under normoxic conditions to determin
the ability of blue crabs to feed on normoxic clams. N= Normoxic clam eaten

Reference Experiment	Tank 1	Tanks 2	Tank 3	Tank 4	Tank 5	# of Normoxic Eaten	# Left Uneaten
1	0	N	0	Ν	0	2	8
2	Ν	0	0	0	0	1	9
3	0	0	0	0	0	0	10
4	0	0	0	0	0	0	10
5	0	0	0	0	0	0	10
6	0	0	0	0	0	0	10
7	0	0	0	0	0	0	10
8	0	0	0	0	0	0	10
					TOTAL	3	77

Choice Experiment

The choice experiment was run a total of 21 times (Table 2). Each experiment had five trials, resulting in a total of 105 repetitions. Thirty-seven crabs and 210 rangia clams (105 hypoxia-stressed clams and 105 clams kept under normoxic conditions) were used.

Table 2: Summary table of choice experiments: N= normoxic clam eaten, H= hypoxic clam eaten, H,N= both clams eaten (<u>hypoxic first</u>), N,H= both clams eaten (<u>normoxic first</u>), 0= neither hypoxic nor normoxic clam eaten.

Experiment	Tank	Tank	Tank	Tank	Tank	Total #	Total #	Total #
Number	1	2	3	4	5	Hypoxic	Normoxic	Uneaten Clams
						Eaten	Eaten	Clains
1	Н	Ν	0	0	0	1	1	8
2	0	Н	0	0	0	1	0	9
3	Н	Н	0	Н	Н	4	0	6
4	Н	Н	0	Ν	Н	3	1	6
5	0	Н	0	Ν	0	1	1	8
6	Н	0	0	0	0	1	0	9
7	0	H,N	0	Н	H,N	3	2	6
8	0	Н	Н	0	H,N	3	1	6
9	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	10
10	0	Н	0	0	0	1	0	9
11	0	Н	0	Н	Н	3	0	7
12	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	10
13	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	10
14	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	10
15	Ν	0	0	0	0	0	1	9
16	0	Н	Н	0	0	2	0	8
17	0	Н	H,N	0	0	2	1	7
18	0	N,H	0	Ν	0	1	2	7
19	Н	Н	Н	0	0	3	0	7
20	0	0	Н	N	0	1	1	8
21	Н	Н	Н	N	0	3	1	6
TOTALS						33	12	165

Nineteen crabs fed and 18 crabs did not feed. Forty-five clams were eaten and 165 clams were left uneaten. Out of the crabs that did feed, 33 out of 45 hypoxia-stressed clams were eaten compared to 12 out of 45 clams kept under normoxic conditions (p=0.0012). The pooled data

include clams that were eaten second if the crab ate both the hypoxia-stressed clam and normoxic clam in a trial.

The pooled data were further restricted to determine if the first or only choice of the crabs was hypoxia-stressed clams. The total number of hypoxia-stressed clams eaten only or first was 32, and the total number of normoxic clams eaten only or first was 8. A binomial test determined that restricted data show hypoxia-stressed clams were significantly chosen over normoxic clams (p<0.0001). To summarize, the pooled data indicate that significantly more hypoxia-stressed clams were eaten than normoxic clams, and the restricted data demonstrate that blue crabs significantly chose hypoxia-stressed clams only or first over normoxic clams.



Figure 4: Blue crab feeding preference based on clam treatment (hypoxia-stressed, clams kept under normoxic conditions, both eaten, or none eaten).

There was a large amount of variation in individual crab feeding preferences (Figure 4). Some crabs ate both clams during an experiment, and some crabs never fed. Out of the 37 individual crabs used, 11 ate only hypoxia-stressed clams, 2 ate only normoxic clams, 6 ate both hypoxia-stressed and normoxic clams, and 18 ate neither hypoxia-stressed clams nor clams kept under normoxic conditions. Six ate both hypoxia-stressed and normoxic clams (Table 3). Crab #15, used in two experiments, ate both clams in both experiments, but always ate hypoxic first. Crab #32, used in 6 experiments, ate only the hypoxic-stressed clams in five trials, but ate the normoxic clam followed by the hypoxic clam in another trial. Crab #33 ate only the hypoxic in five trials but ate the hypoxic followed by the normoxic in one experiment. The remaining three individuals ate either the hypoxic or normoxic in a single trial, but their preference differed between experiments. The six crabs that ate both hypoxia-stressed clams and normoxic clams ate a total of 24 clams out of the 45 eaten in the experiment (H=16, N=8). A binomial test determined that these 6 individuals did not significantly chose hypoxia-stressed clams over normoxic clams (p=.0758),

Table 3: Preference of crabs that ate both hypoxia-stressed clams and normoxic clams during the choice experiments and number of trials each crab eat each combination H,N= hypoxic clam and normoxic clam eaten (<u>hypoxic first</u>) N,H= hypoxic and normoxic eaten (normoxic first). H= only hypoxic eaten, N= only normoxic clam eaten.

(IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII	<u>.,</u> , 11– 0111 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 1	Ale catch, 11-0	my normoxic (ann catom	
Individual Crab Identification Number	# Experiments Used In	# Trials Individual ate H,N	# Trials Individual ate N, H	# of Trials Individual ate only H	# of Trials Individual ate only N
#2	2	0	0	1	1
#9	4	0	0	1	2
#12	2	1	0	1	0
#15	2	2	0	0	0
#32	6	0	1	5	0
#33	6	1	0	5	0

Statistics cannot be run on individual crab choice because of the small number of trials for which each crab was used. Ideally, each individual crab should be run through more experiments to increase the probability of exhibiting individual crab prey choice. A variety of circumstances including molting, illness, unresponsiveness or death influenced the number of

experiments in which individual crabs were used. Crabs were run two times (N=20), three times

(N=9), four times (N=5) or six times (N=3) (Table 4).

Table 4: Numbers of crabs that fed in ea	ch category based	l on number o	of experimental
trials			

Number of Experiments Run Per Crab	# of Crabs that Only Ate Hypoxic Clams	# of Crabs that Only Ate Normoxic Clams	# of Crabs that Ate Both Hypoxic and Normoxic Clams	# of Crabs that Ate Neither Hypoxic nor Normoxic Clams	Total Number of Individual Crabs
2	4	1	3	12	20
3	4	1	0	4	9
4	2	0	1	2	5
6	0	0	2	1	3

Analysis of variation in crab feeding

There was variation among crab feeding preferences. Crabs may not have eaten during the experiments for many reasons including the number of days in held in captivity, the season of crab capture, the season of rangia clam collection and increase in temperature. Eighteen crabs of 37 did not eat and observations were analyzed to determine if any of these factors contributed to not feeding or variation in feeding preference.

As previously mentioned, crabs were held for varying lengths of time in captivity (Figure 5). Three crabs that did not feed on experimental clams were held in captivity for 14 days, eight for 15 days, 2 for 22 days, 1 for 45 days, 2 for 55 days, 1 for 61 days and 1 for 78 days. Two crabs that fed were in captivity for 14 days, 4 for 45 days, 4 for 78 days, 2 for 15 days, 3 for 55

days, 2 for 61 days and 2 for 39. There was no correlation between days in captivity and crabs feeding ($R^2=0.3133$) or not feeding ($R^2=0.3153$)



Figure 5: Number of crabs that fed or didn't feed compared to days in captivity.

This project was carried out year-round for two years. Crabs were collected as needed for the experiment, so crabs were collected at all different times of the year (Figure 6). Seasons were defined as fall (September through November), winter (December through February), spring (March through May), and summer (June through August). Ten crabs were collected during the fall months, 5 in the winter months, 10 in the spring months and 12 in the summer months. The season of the year the crabs were captured did not affect the feeding preferences of the crabs. The following are numbers of crabs that fed: 6 of 10 captured in fall, 4 of 5 captured in winter, 4 of 10 captured in spring, and 5 of 12 captured in summer ($r^2 = 0.1636$).



Figure 6: Crab feeding compared to season of capture

Another possible source of variation is the season that the rangia clams were collected from Lake Pontchartrain. The season that the clams were collected may have affected the stress level of the clams in the laboratory, but because of the small and uneven number of experiments done in each season, the data could not be analyzed statistically. Six experiments were run in the fall, 2 experiments in the winter, 4 in the spring and 9 in the summer. The most hypoxia-stressed and normoxic clams were eaten in the summer, but the most clams were also collected in the summer (Figure 7). Clams were held for two to four weeks.



Figure 7: Numbers of clams eaten (N=33) compared to season of collection

In order to determine if there was a difference in feeding response between experiments carried out at 22-25° C and those carried out at 30° C, a 2 x 2 chi square Fisher's exact test was also performed (Table 5). The crabs ate 21 hypoxia-stressed clams and 6 normoxic clams at 22-25° C. The crabs ate 12 hypoxia-stressed clams and 6 normoxic clams during experiments carried out at 30° C. There was no significant difference in feeding between the two temperatures (p= 0.3126).

Temperature	Hypoxic	Normoxic
Room Temperature (22° C- 25° C)	21	6
30 ^ø C	12	6

 Table 5: Fisher's exact test to determine significance between 22°C-25°C and 30°C

 Observational Data

Upon introducing two clams into a crab's tank, the crabs almost always handled the hypoxia-stressed clams first and held it tightly for several minutes. Unfortunately, handling data was not recorded for all 105 trials, but data was collected for 65 of the trials. Of the 65 trials, crabs handled a normoxic clam or a hypoxia-stressed clam 37 times. Thirty-four of the 37 times, the crabs handled the hypoxia-stressed clam first and 3 times the crabs handled the normoxic clam first (p<0.001).

The blue crabs used a standard technique for opening the clams. The rangia shells were chipped and bitten on the posterior edge of the shell, where the siphon extends. According to Linton et al. (2007) this creates a gap between the valves and allows for chelae to enter. Next, the crabs inserted chelae into the hole to widen the gap between the valves until the adductor muscle was cut. The combination of chipping/biting and wedging techniques was employed by the crabs in eating both the rangia clams kept under normoxic conditions, and hypoxia-stressed

clams. While being exposed to hypoxic conditions, the rangia clams remained tightly closed. Once the hypoxia-stressed clams were placed into the crab tanks, however, most extended their siphons in an attempt to re-oxygenate themselves. This gave the crab an opportunity to gain access to the internal parts of the clams by chewing on the extended siphon. If the clams did not extend their siphons, the crabs generally grabbed the hypoxic clam and held it for several minutes, which maintained anoxic conditions inside the mantle cavity, forcing the clam to extend its siphon for oxygen or die from anoxia or accumulation of excretory products (Heinonen et al. 1997). The shell remains of rangia clams that were eaten were whole, except for some chipping on the edges, and separated at the valves (Figure 8). Often, clams that were alive at the end of 12 hours were still closed and had chipping on the edges, suggesting that the crab had tried to open it, but failed. In fact, of the 34 times hypoxia-stressed clams were handled first, 18 were successfully opened and eaten, and 16 were left unopened. The opening behaviors observed here are consistent with observations of blue crabs from other studies (Linton et al. 2007, Ebersole & Kennedy 1995).



Figure 8: Eaten rangia clam exhibiting chipping/biting

Discussion

Rangia clams are a major prey of the blue crabs in Lake Pontchartrain, and the reference experiment showed that some crabs can open normoxic clams. This study showed experimentally that blue crabs fed significantly more on hypoxia-stressed clams than clams kept under non-stressed conditions, and that clams' responses to hypoxia may make them more vulnerable to predators.

Blue crabs certainly feed on smaller rangia clams in Lake Pontchartrain, but once they reach a larger size (>21 mm), the clams become protected from predation (Abadie and Poirrier 2000). However, I found that larger clams become an available food source when they are exposed to hypoxia. Clarke et al. (1999a) suggested that blue crab forage primarily by using chemoreceptors and responding to chemical cues in their environments, along with touch and vision. Dead clam flesh releases amino acids into the water and draws blue crabs to an area (Clark et al. 1999a). Handling data from this experiment suggests that blue crabs can recognize a hypoxia-stressed clam from a non-stressed clam because they significantly handled hypoxic clams over normoxic clams, even if they were not able to open the clam. It is likely that the clams are releasing a chemical signal that allows the blue crab to recognize its weakened condition.

Behavioral adaptations to hypoxia, such as vertical migration and siphon extension, may also make the rangia clam more susceptible to blue crab predation. Such behaviors would allow blue crabs to reduce foraging time and provide easier access to the internal parts of the clam. Although migration in the sediment was not tested in this study, clams were observed to extend their siphons upon entering normoxic waters after 72 hours of exposure to hypoxia, and the blue crabs exploited this behavior by gnawing on the exposed area and gaining access to clam's flesh.

Rangia clams have been shown to tolerate both hypoxic and anoxic conditions. Rangia clams can tolerate temporary anoxic conditions with some individuals surviving 6.5 days in 0 ppm oxygen (Patillo et al. 1997), but Henry et al. (1980) reported 50% mortality of rangia clams after 5-7 days under hypoxic conditions in both 2 and 20 ppt salinities. Those that survived did not recover after being returned to normoxic conditions. These two studies contradict each other, but Henry et al. (1980) coupled hypoxia with salinity shifts and did not subject rangia clams to anoxia. Rangia survival decreased to 3 days when given a hypo- or hypersaline shock. A study in the Estuarine Research Lab has shown that at 5 ppt and 10 ppt salinity, clams survived 24, 48, and 72 hours of exposure to hypoxia at 1 mg/L, but died after 120 hours of exposure. The interactive effect of salinity shifts and hypoxia decreases survivorship. Experimental groups exposed to a downward salinity shift experienced less tolerance to the effects of hypoxia. Experimental groups that were shifted up from 5 ppt to 10, 15 or 20 ppt all tolerated longer exposure time to hypoxia before death. The combination of fluctuating salinity from the IHNC and episodic hypoxia and anoxia in Lake Pontchartrain may make rangia clams more susceptible to blue crab predation.

In this study, crabs exhibited variation in feeding activity and prey choice. Individual variation among crab prey preference has been found in other studies (Blundon & Kennedy 1982). One of the reasons crabs may not feed is molt status. Before crabs undergo ecydsis (molting), they stop feeding and hide to protect themselves from predators (Hartnoll 1982). After ecydsis, the shell does not fully harden again for a few days, probably decreasing the crab's ability to open hard-shelled clams.

Another possible explanation for variance in feeding behavior is the presence of bacterial or viral pathogens in the crabs. A bacterium, *Vibrio cholerae*, was common on the crabs and

detected by brown blotches disfiguring the exoskeleton. Although it did not seem to affect their behavior in the laboratory, crabs with *V. cholerae* present were avoided. The fluorescent grow light seems to prevent the development of *V. cholerae* in the laboratory.

In December 2007, the crabs exhibited strange symptoms including twitching, lack of buoyancy control, disorientation, loss of appetite, and eventually death. All specimens were disposed of and the tank system underwent an entire water change. After the initial outbreak, new crabs were monitored, and if any symptoms were exhibited, they were immediately replaced by another crab and released back into Lake Pontchartrain. Crabs may be captured with several viruses present, but may not show symptoms until stressed when their conditions are exacerbated in captivity (Messick and Sindermann 1992). Correspondence with Dr. Gretchen Messick suggested that this disease was viral because these symptoms were not consistent with high ammonia levels or water quality issues. Weakness and paralysis can be symptoms of viral pathogens in blue crabs (Johnson 1978). Water quality was constantly monitored and all parameters were normal at this time. In future studies, a flow-through aquarium set-up may be beneficial in maintaining water quality and reducing stress on the crabs.

Diet and nutrition may have affected crab feeding preference. The crabs were fed a diet of shrimp pellets and opened rangia clams when not being used in experiments. This is probably not a balanced diet and may have led to malnourished or weakened crabs. Poor nutrition could potentially have affected crab cheliped muscle stamina or mandible strength, both of which are important in opening of the hard-shelled rangia clam.

Two other possible sources of feeding variation are the number of days that the individuals were held in captivity and the season the specimens were collected. The number of days crabs remained in captivity did not strongly correlate with the ability to feed on the clams.

The season of crab capture did not correlate with feeding choice, although more crabs captured in fall and winter fed. Fewer crabs captured in spring and summer fed. Crabs may have been less stressed in the wild during these months due to more consistent salinity and DO concentrations, than in the summer when lake is stratified by salinity and experiences bottom water hypoxia. Clams were held between two weeks and a month in an effort to use fresh clams in each experiment. Like the crabs, clams were collected year-round and may have experienced increased stress in the wild during certain months of the year.

Potential laboratory stress on the clams may have also led to variation in results. The salinity at the locations where the clams were collected was slightly higher (7.2-8.5 ppt) than the laboratory conditions (5 ppt). The clams were acclimated at least three days in the laboratory before being used in an experiment. Power outages occurred, leaving the clams without aeration for a few hours. Prolonged power outages resulted in death for most of the clams, and therefore new clams had to be collected. Stress from captivity or lack of proper nutrition may have led to weakened adductor muscles in the clams, making them less resistant to blue crab predation. Water temperatures also varied from the collection site to the laboratory depending on the season of collection.

Water temperatures in the laboratory did not affect crab feeding preference in this study. Hypoxic tolerance decreases with increased temperature in most bivalve species, presumably as a result of increased metabolic rate (Stickle et al. 1989). Lower temperatures correlate with increased survival rates during hypoxia (Diaz & Rosenberg 1995). The results here did not show significant differences between experiments done at 22-25°C versus 30°C (p=0.3126), but a higher number of replications may yield significant results. The higher temperatures coupled with hypoxic conditions certainly stress the benthic organisms of Lake Pontchartrain.

Another source of variation may be the experience an individual crab has handling bivalve prey. Conditioning blue crabs to certain prey types before an experiment has shown that blue crabs may be able to modify their prey choice based on experience (Micheli 1995). This would be advantageous for a mobile predator such as the blue crab that encounters variable conditions. Some crabs may simply have had more experience opening rangia clams than others. Some individuals may take advantage of other food sources in the lake because of the difficulty of opening hard-shelled rangia clams, which require longer handling times than other types of prey.

Despite the potential sources of variation among crab feeding preference, crabs in this study ate significantly more hypoxia-stressed clams than clams kept under normoxic conditions, suggesting that they can recognize and feed on weakened clams. The combination of salinity shifts and episodic hypoxia in Lake Pontchartrain makes the mature rangia clams an available food source for blue crabs.

Hypoxic zones are dynamic and the edges of the zone may fluctuate yearly, seasonally, daily, or even hourly depending on tides and wind direction and speed (Sagasti et al. 2001, Bell et al. 2003). In Lake Pontchartrain, there is a zone north of the IHNC that experiences hypoxia and anoxia caused by salinity stratification. Wind direction, circulation, and degree of mixing can cause the hypoxic and anoxic zones within the zone of salinity stratification to expand, contract, and change shape (Figure 2). The 250 km² zone in Lake Pontchartrain where mature rangia clams are not present is the cumulative effect of these shifting hypoxic and anoxic events, and the entire area is seldom affected at the same time. Clams located in areas frequently subjected to hypoxia and anoxia may simply die from stress and frequent exposure to hypoxia.

become an available prey source to blue crabs. Fluctuations in dissolved oxygen concentrations may allow the blue crabs to exploit stressed rangia without exposing themselves to severe hypoxia. Blue crabs that remain in severely hypoxic waters migrate to normoxic waters to recover from the stress and are less likely to reinvade the hypoxic zone to forage on vulnerable prey (Bell et al. 2003). However, because of the uniqueness of Lake Pontchartrain's hypoxic events, blue crabs may wait in normoxic waters for conditions to improve and then move into an area before the rangia clams have a chance to recover.

Conclusion

In conclusion, although there was variability among individuals, experimental results showed that blue crabs significantly fed on hypoxic stressed clams over clams held under normoxic conditions. Data also show that blue crabs can recognize hypoxic clams and tend to handle them first. Although crabs tend to avoid hypoxic conditions, fluctuations of the hypoxic zone north of the IHNC may allow crabs to prey upon weakened clams when conditions improve. After a hypoxic event, it may take clams days to recover, whereas blue crabs can avoid hypoxia and move into an area before the clams have chance to recover. This study likely underestimates the predation on stressed clams because it did not explore anoxic conditions or osmotic stress on the clams. The interaction of salinity shifts from the high salinity waters entering Lake Pontchartrain from the IHNC, episodic hypoxic conditions during the summer, and blue crab predation could all contribute to the lack of mature rangia clams in Lake Pontchartrain's hypoxic zone.

Literature Cited

- Abadie RJ and Poirrier, MA (2000) Increased density of large Rangia clams in Lake Pontchartrain after the cessation of shell dredging. J Shellfish Res 19(1): 481-485.
- Abadie SW and Poirrier MA (2001) Rangia clams as indicators of hypoxia in Lake Pontchartrain. Atlas of Lake Pontchartrain Basin, United States Geological Survey <u>http://pubs.usgs.gov/of/2002/of02-206/env-issues/hypoxia.html</u>
- Bell GW, Eggleston DB, Wolcott TG (2003) Behavioral responses of free-ranging blue crabs to episodic hypoxia. II. Feeding. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 259: 227-235.
- Blundon JA and Kennedy VS (1982) Mechanical and behavioral aspects of blue crab *Callinectes sapidus* (Rathbun), predation on Chesapeake Bay bivalves. J Exp Mar Biol Ecol 65: 47-65.
- Brammer AJ, Rodriguez Z, Spalding EA, Poirrier MA (2007) Effects of the 1997 Bonnet Carre spillway opening on infaunal macroinvertebrates in Lake Pontchartrain, Louisiana. J Coastal Res 23: 1292-1303.
- Breitburg DL, Steinberg N, DuBeau S, Cooksey C, Houde ED (1994) Effects of low dissolved oxygen on predation on estuarine fish larvae. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 104: 235-246.
- Clark ME, Wolcott TG, Wolcott DL, Hines AH (1999a) Foraging and agonistic activity cooccur in free-ranging blue crabs (*Callinectes sapidus*): observation of animals by ultrasonic telemetry. J Exp Mar Biol Eco 233: 143-160.
- Clark ME, Wolcott TG, Wolcott DL, Hines AH (1999b) Intraspecific interference among foraging blue crabs *Callinectes sapidus*: interactive effects of predator density and prey patch distribution. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 178: 69-78.
- Darnell RM (1958) Food habits of fishes and larger invertebrates of Lake Pontchartrain, Louisiana, an estuarine community. Publications of the Institute of Marine Science, University of Texas 5: 353-416.
- Darnell RM (1961) Trophic spectrum of an estuarine community, based on studies of Lake Pontchartrain, Louisiana. Ecol 42: 553-568.
- Das T, Stickle WB (1993) Sensitivity of crabs *Callinectes sapidus* and *C. similis* and the gastropod *Stramonita haemastoma* to hypoxia and anoxia. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 98: 263-274.
- Diaz RJ, Neubauer RJ, Scaffner LC, Pihl L, Baden SP (1992) Continuous monitoring of dissolved oxygen in an estuary experiencing periodic hypoxia and the effect of hypoxia on macrobenthos and fish. Sci Total Environ: 1055-1068.

- Diaz RJ, Rosenburg R (1995) Marine benthic hypoxia: A review of its ecological effects and the behavioral responses of benthic macrofauna. Oceanogr Mar Biol 33: 245-303.
- Ebersole EL, Kennedy VS (1995) Prey preferences of blue crabs *Callinectes sapidus* feeding on three bivalve species. Mar Eco Prog Ser 118: 167-177.
- Hartnoll RG (1982) Growth in the biology of crustacea. Embryology, Morphology, and Genetics. Ed LG Abele. Academic Press, New York, pp. 111-196.
- Heinonen J, Kukkonen J, Penttiten OP, and Holopainen IJ (1997) Effects of hypoxia on valve-closure time and bioaccumulation of 2,4,5, trichlorophenol by freshwater clam *Sphaerium corneum*. Ecotoxicol Environ Safety 36: 49-56.
- Henry RP, Mangum CP, Webb KL (1980) Salt and water balance in the oligohaline clam, *Rangia cuneata*: accumulation of intracellular free amino acids during high salinity adaptation. J Exp Zool 211: 11-24.

Johnson PT (1978) Viral diseases of the blue crab, Callinectes sapidus. Mar Fish Rev 40: 13-15.

- Juanes F (1992) Why do decapod crustaceans prefer small-sized molluscan prey? Mar Ecol Prog Ser 87: 239-249.
- Junot JA, Poirrier MA, Soniat TM (1983) Effects of saltwater intrusion from the Inner Harbor Navigation Canal on the benthos of Lake Pontchartrain, Louisiana. Gulf Res Rep 9: 1-16.
- LaSalle MW and De la Cruz, AA (1985) Species profile: life histories and environmental requirements of coastal fishes and invertebrates (Gulf of Mexico): common Rangia. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Services Biology Reproductions 82 (11.31). U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, TR EL-82-4. 16 pp.
- Laughlin RA (1982) Feeding habits of the blue crab, *Callinectes sapidus* Rathbun, in the Apalachicola Estuary, Florida. Bull Mar Sci 32: 802-822.
- Lenihan HS, Peterson CH, Byers JE, Grabowski JH, Thayer GW, Colby DR (2001) Cascading of habitat degradation: oyster reefs invaded by refugee fishes escaping stress. Ecol Appl 11: 764-782.
- Linton CM, Rebach S, Kennedy VS (2007) Notes on the behavior of blue crabs, *Callinectes sapidus* Rathbun, 1896 feeding on two morphologically dissimilar clams. Crustaceana 80: 779-792.
- Long WC, Seitz RD (2008) Trophic interactions under stress: hypoxia enhances foraging in an estuarine food web. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 362: 59-68.

- Mansour RA, Lipcuis RN (1991) Density-dependent foraging and mutual interference in blue crabs preying upon infaunal clams. Mar. Eco Prog Ser 72: 239-246.
- Menge BA and Olson AM (1990) Role of scale and environmental factors in regulation of community structure. Trends Ecol Evol 5: 52-57.
- Menge BA, Sutherland JP (1987) Community regulation: variation in disturbance, competition, and predation in relation to environmental stress and recruitment. Am Nat 130: 730-757.
- Messick GA and Sindermann CJ (1992) A brief synopsis of principal disease of the blue crab, *Callinectes sapidus*. NOAA NMFS Tech Memo NMFS-F/NEC-88, Washington, D.C. 24 pp.
- Micheli, F (1995) Behavioral plasticity in prey-size selectivity of the blue crab *Callinectes sapidus* feeding on bivalve prey. Journ of An Eco 64: 63-74.
- Moore DS and McCabe GP (1998) Introduction to Practice of Statistics. WH Freeman and Company, New York. 824 pp.
- Nestlerode JA, Diaz RJ (1998) Effects of periodic environmental hypoxia on predation of a tethered polychaete *Glycera Americana:* implications for trophic dynamic. Mar Eco Prog Ser 172: 185-195.
- Ostroumav SA (2005) Some aspects of water filtering activity of filter-feeders. Hydrobiol 542: 275-286.
- Pattillo ME, Czapla TE, Nelson DM, Monaco ME (1997) Distribution and abundance of fishes and invertebrates in Gulf of Mexico estuaries. Volume II: Species life history summaries. ELMR Rep. No. 11. NOAA/NOS Strategic Environmental Assessments Division, Silver Spring, MD 377 pg.
- Peterson, BJ, Heck KLJ (1999) The potential for suspension feeding bivalves to increase seagrass productivity. J Exp Mar Biol 240: 37-52.
- Pihl L, Baden Sp, Diaz RJ (1991) Effects of periodic hypoxia on distribution of demersal fish and crustaceans. Mar Biol 108: 349-360.
- Pihl L, Baden SP, Diaz RJ, Schaffner LC (1992) Hypoxia-induced structural changes in the diet of bottom feeding fish and crustacea. Mar Biol 112: 349-361
- Poirrier MA (1978) Studies of salinity stratification in southern Lake Pontchartrain near the Inner Harbour Navigation Canal. Proc La Acad Sci 151: 26-35.

- Poirrier MA, Rodriguez del Rey Z, Spalding EA (2008) Acute Disturbance of Lake Pontchartrain Benthic Communities by Hurricane Katrina. Estuaries Coasts 31:1221– 1228.
- Rabalais NN Harper DE, Turner RE (2001) Responses of nekton and demersal and benthic fauna to decreasing oxygen concentrations in Coastal Hypoxia: Consequences for Living Resources and Ecosystems: American Geophysical Union, Washington DC, 115-128.
- Sagasti A, Schaffner LC, Duffy JE (2001) Effects of periodic hypoxia on mortality, feeding, and predation in an estuarine epifaunal community. J Exp Mar Biol Ecol 258: 258-283.
- Sandberg E (1994) Does short-term oxygen depletion affect predator-prey relationships in zoobethos? Experiments with the isopod *Saduria entomon*. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 103: 73-180.
- Seed R, Hughes RN (1997) Chelal characteristics and foraging behavior of the blue crab *Callinectes sapidus* Rathbun. Estuarine Coastal Shelf Sci 44: 221-229.
- Seitz DC, Marshall LS Jr., Hines AH, KL (2003) Effects of hypoxia on predator-prey dynamics of the blue crab *Callinectes sapidus* and the Baltic clam *Macoma balthica* in Chesapeake Bay. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 237: 170-188.
- Sikora WB and Kjerfve B (1985) Factors influencing the salinity regime of Lake Pontchartrain, Louisiana, a shallow coastal lagoon: analysis of a long-term data set. Estuaries 8: 170-180.
- Spalding EA, Walker AE, Poirrier MA (2007) Restoration of 100 square miles of shellfish habitat in Lake Pontchartrain. Gulf of Mexico Program, EPA, New Orleans La, 30 pp.
- Stickle WB, Kapper MA, Liu L, Gnaiger E, Wang SY (1989) Metabolic adaptations of several species of crustaceans and molluscs to hypoxia: tolerance and microcalorimetric studies. Biol Bull 177: 303-322
- Taylor DL, Eggleston DB (2000) Effects of hypoxia on an estuarine predator-prey interaction: foraging heavier and mutual interference in the blue crab *Callinectes sapidus* and the infaunal clam prey *Mya arenaria*. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 196: 221-237.
- Wu RSS (2002) Hypoxia: from molecular responses to ecosystem responses. Mar Pollut Bull 45: 35.

Vita

Ann C. Howard was born in Galesville, Wisconsin and received her B.S. in Ecology and Evolutionary Biology and Anthropolohy from Tulane University, in New Orleans, Louisiana.